



DEPARTMENT OF POLITICS

POLS213

2018 – S2

NEW ZEALAND FOREIGN POLICY

This course examines theories and factors that explain New Zealand foreign policy, including small state and international relations theories, foreign policy analysis and geopolitics, security, alliances, multilateralism, trade and morality. These regions of interest such as the United States, Australia, the Pacific, and Asia.



Lecturer:	Dr. Iati Iati	
Lecture Times:	MON	12 – 1:50 PM
Lecture Room:		
Office Hours:	WEDS	2 - 3:50 PM
Office:	4.N.10	
Email:	iati.iati@otago.ac.nz	

COURSE OBJECTIVES:

- Understand conceptual/theoretical frameworks relevant to New Zealand foreign policy.
- Understand key factors that influence foreign policy, and New Zealand foreign policy in particular
- Understand key foreign policy issues facing New Zealand
- Understand New Zealand relations with selected countries and regions of interest
- Develop the capacity to think critically, analyze, research, and present ideas/arguments in a clear, well-reasoned, logical, and organized manner.

TEXT

Students may purchase a course reader from Uniprint. An electronic copy will be made available on Blackboard. The course reader provides the key readings, but additional ones may be posted on Blackboard or given out in class. Additionally, you may find the following book very useful.

Patman, R., I, Iati., B, Kiglics. 2017. *New Zealand and the World: Past, present, and future*. Singapore: World Scientific.

STRUCTURE

Lectures: Mondays 12 – 1:50pm. Room: TBA

Tutorials begin in week three (times/groups to be arranged), check your timetables for details.

Note: Lecture and tutorial attendance is important. These will help students prepare for the assessments. Students should do the readings to prepare for the lectures and tutorials.

ASSESSMENT

There is one (individual or group) 3000 word written assignment (50%), and an in-class exam (50%).

LECTURE OUTLINE

Note: This is provisional and subject to change.

Topics	Focus	Tutorial Focus
1	Introduction Concepts	No tutorials
2	Concepts Concepts	No tutorials
3	Concepts Concepts	Tutorial 1
4	Security Security	Tutorial 2
5	Security Security	Tutorial 3
6	Security Security/Multilateralism	Tutorial 4
7	Multilateralism Multilateralism	Tutorial 5
9	Trade	Tutorial 6
10	Trade	Tutorial 7
11	Morality	Tutorial 8
12	Morality	Tutorial 9
13	Conclusion and Revision	
14	TBA	

ASSESSMENTS: ASSIGNMENT (50%) AND IN-CLASS EXAM (50%)

1# ASSIGNMENT (50%) (INDIVIDUAL OR GROUP)

This may be done individually or as a group (no more than 3 members). If the group option is taken, the names must be submitted to the lecturer at the beginning of week 3.

Due date: TBA

Word limit: 3000 words

Make sure that you analyze New Zealand's policy rather than merely describe it.

Clearly state what your argument is in your introduction, and how you are going to structure that argument. The main body of the assignment should follow that structure, carefully analyzing each point that constitutes your argument. Be carefully to examine, where relevant, alternative views/positions regarding each point. If the body of the assessment has sections, you should indicate at the end of each section how your discussion in that section has contributed to your overall argument. In the conclusion, you should draw together your key points, and show how these support and/or do not support your argument. Make sure you highlight any weaknesses in your argument.

Where appropriate, your analysis should integrate relevant concept/s. A useful approach is to discuss the theory, in particular its key elements, and then analyze these in relation to the empirical material. If, for example, you identify realism (political ideology) as an explanatory concept for New Zealand's policy towards your selected country/region, you should identify/examine the key elements/components of this, and then analyze it in relation to the empirical material you have discovered in your research.

Make sure that you proofread the working draft carefully to check that each sentence is clear and grammatically accurate. Please look at the 'Online Study Skills' section of the Student Learning Centre web-site (<http://slc.otago.ac.nz/>) for advice on assignment writing and referencing.

The assignment will be assessed on the following criteria:

Argument: Have you clearly articulated what your argument is, and how you are going to structure this, in your introduction?

Structure and Organisation: Does the main body of the assignment provide a logical and well organized structure of your argument?

Analysis: Have you accurately identified and critically analyzed all the points that are relevant/important to your topic/argument? (It is critical that you include all the relevant/important points (empirical and conceptual) that pertain to your topic/argument, and consider all the alternative views/positions in relation to each of these.)

Research: Have you consulted the appropriate sources? Note: you should, except where primary sources are necessary, confine your research to "peer-reviewed" sources.

Style of writing and grammar: Have you expressed your ideas clearly? Check your grammar!!!

Referencing: Have you correctly used and formatted your references and bibliography?

Word limit: Assignments that exceed the word limit will have marks deducted.

Assignments must be deposited in the 200-level assignment box outside the corridor to the Political Studies Department (Arts Building, 4th floor, North end) by 12.00pm on the due date. An electronic copy of your assignment must also be uploaded to Blackboard by 12:00pm on that day. To guard against the possibility of lost or missing papers, students are required to keep back-up copies of their work.

Late assignments will have the appropriate marks deducted or will not be marked (unless an extension is granted).

Extension applications must be submitted at least one week before the due date. Extensions will be granted for serious reasons only (in the case of illness, a medical certificate is required). Application forms are available from the department's administration office.

You must attach a Plagiarism Declaration to the assignment (form available outside the department office and next to the assignment drop boxes).

Please note the University Statement on Plagiarism:

"Students should make sure that all submitted work is their own. Plagiarism is a form of dishonest practice. Plagiarism is defined as copying or paraphrasing another's work, whether intentionally or otherwise, and presenting it as one's own (approved University Council, December 2004). In practice this means plagiarism includes any attempt in any piece of submitted work (e.g. an assignment or test) to present as one's own work the work of another (whether of another student or a published authority). Any student found responsible for plagiarism in any piece of work submitted for assessment shall be subject to the University's dishonest practice regulations which may result in various penalties, including forfeiture of marks for the piece of work submitted, a zero grade for the paper, or in extreme cases exclusion from the University."

2# IN-CLASS EXAM: (50%)

DATE: TBA

Time: TBA

The in-class exam will assess your overall understanding and knowledge of New Zealand foreign policy and the topics covered in the course.

SOURCES

KEY SOURCES

Readings for this paper are available via commercial sources, but may alternatively be purchased in a collated form via the course reader available from Uniprint. There will also be 2 copies in the Course Reserve.

I have listed other useful readings under each topic. Many of the readings come from the New Zealand International Review, which you can also access online through the E-Journal portal on the library web-site.

You will also need to find newspaper and journal articles for your assignment:– databases such as Newzindex, Factiva, and Expanded Academic are useful; they can be accessed through the Article Databases section of the Library web-site.

Check also the Library's Subject Guide for Political Studies for other databases and reference materials.

News items, analyses of current issues, and official documents are also provided by internet sources, some of which are listed below. A good starting point is the New Zealand Foreign Policy Research Archive (University of Auckland) at www.arts.auckland.ac.nz/departments/index.cfm?P=8797

OFFICIAL WEB-SITES

NZ Government web-site: www.beehive.govt.nz (under portfolios or ministers for speeches, statements, etc.)

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade: www.mfat.govt.nz

Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade: www.beehive.govt.nz/Portfolio.aspx?PortfolioID=21

Ministry of Defence: www.defence.govt.nz

Minister of Defence: www.beehive.govt.nz/Minister.aspx?MinisterID=25

New Zealand Defence Force: www.nzdf.mil.nz

New Zealand Army: www.army.mil.nz

Royal New Zealand Navy: www.navy.mil.nz

Royal New Zealand Air Force: www.airforce.mil.nz

NZAID: www.nzaid.govt.nz

New Zealand Trade and Enterprise: www.nzte.govt.nz

Statistics New Zealand: www.stats.govt.nz

RESEARCH INSTITUTES

New Zealand Institute of International Affairs: www.vuw.ac.nz/nziia

New Zealand Centre for Strategic Studies: www.vuw.ac.nz/css

Asia New Zealand Foundation: www.asia2000.org.nz

New Zealand Asia Institute: www.auckland.ac.nz/nzai

INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATIONS

APEC: www.apec.org

Asian Development Bank: www.adb.org

Commonwealth: www.thecommonwealth.org

OECD: www.oecd.org

Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat: www.forumsec.org.fj

United Nations: www.un.org

World Bank: www.worldbank.org

World Trade Organisation: www.wto.org

TOPICS

Note: The key readings are in the Course Reader, and the specific readings for each topic will be set in class. If additional readings are required, these will be posted on Blackboard or given out in class. Therefore, it is not compulsory to do all the readings below. Most of these are additional readings that will expand your understanding of these topics, and assist with your research assignment. In addition to the sections of the course covered in the lectures, readings are also provided below for specific countries/regions of interest.

INTRODUCTION

- Iati, I. & R. Patman. 2017. "Introduction", in Patman, R., I, Iati., B, Kiglics (eds.). 2017. New Zealand and the World: Past, present, and future. Singapore: World Scientific.
- Introduction, Roderic Alley, ed., New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005 (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Paul Buchanan, 'Lilliputian in Fluid Times: New Zealand Foreign Policy after the Cold War, Political Science Quarterly, Vol. 125, No. 2, 2010.
- New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Statement of Intent 2005-2008 [A.1 SOI (2005)] (Wellington: Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, 2005) [in library at 30C5 A.1FR; also on MFAT web-site at www.mfat.govt.nz/publications/soi.html].
- Terence O'Brien, 'Facing the World the New Zealand Way', New Zealand International Review, Vol. 30, No. 1, January/February 2005, pp. 25-27.
- Richard Kennaway, 'Foreign Policy in a Vacuum', New Zealand International Review, Vol. 25, No. 6, November/December 2000, pp. 2-5 (part I), and Vol. 26, No. 1, January/February 2001, pp. 19-22 (part II).
- Helen Clark, 'Facing a Complex Future', address to NZIIA's 70th Anniversary dinner, Wellington, 23 June 2004, New Zealand International Review, Vol. 29, No. 5, September/October 2004, pp. 3-8.
- Robert G. Patman, 'New Zealand's Place in the World', chapter 1.8 in Raymond Miller, ed., New Zealand Government and Politics, 4th edition (Melbourne: OUP, 2006). Bryce Harland, 'The Evolving Pattern of New Zealand's External Relations', New Zealand International Review, Vol. 26, No. 1, January/February 2001, pp. 7-12.

CONCEPTS

- John Henderson, 'New Zealand and the Foreign Policy of Small States', in Richard Kennaway and John Henderson (eds.), Beyond New Zealand II: Foreign Policy Into the 1990s (Auckland, Longman Paul Ltd.)
- David McCraw, 'Realism and Idealism in New Zealand's Foreign Policy', New Zealand International Review, Vol. 23, No. 4, July/August 1998, pp. 18-22.
- Simon Dalby, 'The "Kiwi Disease": Geopolitical Discourse in Aotearoa/New Zealand and the South Pacific', Political Geography, Vol. 12, No. 5, September 1993, pp. 437-456.
- 'Asserting National Identity: Foreign Policy', chapter 3 in G.A. Wood and Chris Rudd (2004) The Politics and Government of New Zealand: Robust, Innovative and Challenged.

- Jeanne A.K. Hey, 'Introducing Small State Foreign Policy', chapter 1 in Hey, ed., *Small States in World Politics: Explaining Foreign Policy Behavior* (Boulder/London: Lynne Rienner, 2003).
- Peter Mayell, 'Beyond the "Outer Crescent: the Mackinder Century in New Zealand Geopolitics', *The Geographical Journal*, Vol. 170, No. 4, December 2004, pp. 368-376.
- Malcolm Templeton, 'Paradise Reforged: Another Perspective', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 27, No. 4, July/August 2002, pp. 22-25.

SECURITY

- Dora Alves, 'New Zealand and ANZUS', *The Round Table: The Commonwealth Journal of International Affairs*, Vol. 76, No. 302, 15 April 2008, pp. 207-222.
- David McCraw, 'New Zealand's Defence Policy: From Realism to Idealism', *Defence and Security Analysis*, Vol. 24, No. 1. 2008.
- Jim Rolfe, 'Let's Just Be Friends: New Zealand and the United States', *Asian Affairs: An American Review*, Vol. 30, No. 2, Summer 2003, pp. 122-130.
- Wellington and Washing Declarations
- Burnett & P. Jennings, 1989, *The Future of Australia/New Zealand Relations*, *The Australian Quarterly*, Vol. 61, No. 1.
- James, 2008, 'Three-Step with Matilda: Trans-Tasman Relations', in R. Alley (ed.) *New Zealand in World Affairs 1990-2005*, Wellington: Victoria University Press.
- Robert Devetak and Jacqui True, 'Diplomatic Divergence in the Antipodes: Globalisation, Foreign Policy and State Identity in Australia and New Zealand', *Australian Journal of Political Science*, Vol. 41, No. 2, 2006, pp. 241-256.
- John Henderson and Greg Watson, eds., *Securing a Peaceful Pacific* (Christchurch: Canterbury University Press, 2005) – Introduction: Pacific conflict – How much and why?
- David Capie, 'Regional Security', chapter 8.9 in Raymond Miller, ed., *New Zealand Government and Politics*, 4th edition (Melbourne: OUP, 2006).
- Stephen Hoadley, 'Pacific Island Security Management by New Zealand and Australia: Towards a New Paradigm', Working Paper No.20, 2005, Centre for Strategic Studies: New Zealand, at http://www.vuw.ac.nz/css/docs/working_papers/WP20.pdf .
- J. Henderson and B. Reilly, 2003, 'Dragon in Paradise: China's Rising Start in Oceania', *The National Interest*, Summer.
- Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Committee – New Zealand Government, 2010, *Inquiry into New Zealand's Relationships with South Pacific Countries*, Wellington: House of Representatives.
- McGibbon, 1989, 'New Zealand's Intervention in the Korean War, June-July 1950', *The International History Review*, Vol. 11, No. 2.
 - Tan, 2008, 'The Five Power Defence Arrangements: The Continuing Relevance', *Contemporary Security Policy*, Vol. 29, No. 2.
- Brady, 2008, 'New Zealand-China Relations: Common Points and Differences', *New Zealand Journal of Asian Studies*, Vol. 10, No. 2.
- Anthony L. Smith, 'New Zealand-Southeast Asia Relations: A Survey of the Contemporary Relationship', *Asia:NZ Foundation Outlook*, ed. 1, March 2005.
- Michael Powles, 'Towards an Asia-Pacific Community', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 6, November/December 2006, pp. 12-17.

- Dick Gentles, 'New Zealand Defence Policy: Has it been Transformed?', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 30, No. 4, July/August 2005, pp. 7-11.
- Jim Rolfe, 'Defence Policy: Thinking Systematically', *New Zealand International Review*, January/February 2008, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 15-17.
- Hugh Steadman, 'Towards Comprehensive Security', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 3, May/June 2006, pp. 23-26.
- John Pallot, 'Finding Peace through Preparedness', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 5, September/October 2006, pp. 25-27.
- Robert Ayson, 'New Zealand Defence and Security Policy, 1990-2005', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Stephen Hoadley, 'From Defence to Security: New Zealand's Hard Power, Soft Power, and Smart Power', *New Zealand International Review*, September/October 2007, Vol. 32, No. 5, pp. 18-21.
- Terence O'Brien, 'God Defend New Zealand – from What and How?', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 30, No. 2, March/April 2005, pp. 25-28.
- Jim Rolfe, *Cutting their Cloth: New Zealand's Defence Strategy*, Australian Strategic Policy Institute paper, April 2007, at http://www.aspi.org.au/htmlver/cutting_their_cloth/lib/pdf/ASPI_S7_NewZealand.pdf
- Peter Cozens, 'Funding for Defence', *Policy Quarterly*, Vol. 1, No 3, 2005, at <http://ips.ac.nz/publications/files/34de630e910.pdf>
- Zhivan Alach, 'Continuity and Change in the New Zealand Defence Force' *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 32, No. 1, January/February 2007, pp. 22-24.
- David McCraw, 'New Zealand's Defence Policy: the Triumph of Ideology?', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 1, January/February 2006, pp. 23-27; reply by Phil Goff, correspondence, *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 3, May/June 2006, pp. 30-31; 'Labour's Ideology and defence' [reply by David McCraw], *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 6, November/December 2006, pp. 24-25.
- Peter Nichols, 'Fighting Terrorism in Afghanistan', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 2, March/April 2006, pp. 2-5.
- Garth den Heyer, 'Anti-terrorism: the Police Approach', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 2, March/April 2006, pp. 5-9.
- New Zealand Ministry of Defence, *Statement of Intent: 1 July 2005 – 30 June 2008 [G.4 SOI (2005)]* (Wellington: Ministry of Defence, 2005) [in library at 30C5 G.4SOI; also on MOD web-site at www.defence.govt.nz/public_docs/soi2005/contents.shtml]
- Beth Greener-Barcham, 'Combating terrorism', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 3, May/June 2004, pp. 11-14.
- Simon Power, 'Defence: Time to Shoulder Responsibility', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 28, No. 4, July/August 2003, pp. 25-28.

MULTILATERALISM – UN, US AND NZ

- Hans Morgenthau, 2006, *Politics Among Nations – 7th Ed.*, Boston: McGraw Hill.
- Richard Jackson, 'Multilateralism: New Zealand and the United Nations', chapter 10 in Robert Patman and Chris Rudd, eds., *Sovereignty under Siege? Globalization and New Zealand* (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2005).

- Terence O'Brien, 'New Zealand Foreign Policy: Striving for Consistency', *New Zealand International Review*, November/December 2007, Vol. 32, No. 6, pp. 14-18. Michael M. Collier, 'The Bush Administration's Reaction to September 11: A Multilateral Voice or a Multilateral Veil?', *Berkeley Journal of International Law*, Winter, 2003, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 715-730.
- Rosemary Banks, 'The United Nations at Sixty-Two', *New Zealand International Review*, January/February 2008, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 6-10.
- Terence O'Brien, 'New Zealand and the International System', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Don MacKay, 'New Zealand and International Law', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- W. David McIntyre, 'Renaissance to Residualism? New Zealand and the Commonwealth from Harare to Valletta', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Malcolm Templeton, 'New Zealand at San Francisco', in Malcolm Templeton, ed., *New Zealand as an International Citizen: Fifty Years of United Nations Membership* (Wellington: Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, 1995).
- Phil Goff, 'Multilateralism in NZ Foreign Policy', speech to the United Nations Association of New Zealand, and the New Zealand Institute of International Affairs, Wellington, 19 April 2005, at <http://www.beehive.govt.nz/ViewDocument.aspx?DocumentID=22754>
- W. David McIntyre, 'Don McKinnon's CHOGM', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 2, March/April 2006, pp. 20-24.
- Phil Goff, 'The United Nations: Our Hope for the Future', *New Zealand International Review*, May/June 2003, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 24-25.
- Nii Lante Wallace-Bruce, *The Settlement of International Disputes: The Contribution of Australia and New Zealand* (The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 1998).
- Robert G. Patman and Jeremy Hall, 'New Zealand-US Relations in a Globalising World: Moving Together or Moving Apart?', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Stephen Jacobi, 'Having Our Cake and Eating It Too', *New Zealand International Review*, September/October 2007, Vol. 32, No. 5, pp. 22-24.
- Dick Gentles, 'Can the Buchanan's Ghost be Exorcised?', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 30, No. 3, May/June 2005, pp. 21-23.
- Roger Kerr, 'What America Means for New Zealand', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 1, January/February 2004, pp. 7-10.
- Scott Thomson, 'The United States: a Down Under View', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 32, No. 2, March/April 2007, pp. 24-27.
- Stephen Hoadley, *New Zealand United States Relations: Friends No Longer Allies* (Wellington: NZIIA, 2000).
- Robert Green, 'Why New Zealand's Nuclear-powered Ship Ban must Stay', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 28, No. 3, May/June 2003, pp. 26-27.

MORALITY

- C. Aikman, *New Zealand and the Origins of the Universal Declaration – Address to New Zealand Institution of International Affairs Seminar commemorating the 50th Anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.*

- International Court of Justice, East Timor (Portugal v. Australa), 1 June 1992.
- Maire Leadbeater, 'Has New Zealand Learnt the Lesson?', chapter 14 in *Negligent Neighbour: New Zealand's Complicity in the Invasion and Occupation of Timor-Leste* (Nelson: Craig Potton Publishing, 2006). Andreas Reitzig, 'In Defiance of Nuclear Deterrence: Anti-Nuclear New Zealand After Two Decades', *Medicine, Conflict and Survival*, Vol. 22, No. 2, April-June 2006, pp. 132-144.
- Felicity Wong, 'Environment and Conservation', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Jane Verbitsky, 'Refugee Policy', chapter 8.8 in Raymond Miller, ed., *New Zealand Government and Politics*, 4th edition (Melbourne: OUP, 2006).
- Jian Yang, 'New Zealand and the Kyoto Protocol: Ideals, Interests and Politics', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 3, May/June 2004, pp. 6-10.
- Malcolm Templeton, *Standing Upright Here: New Zealand in the Nuclear Age 1945-1990* (Wellington: Victoria University Press, 2006).
- Robert Ayson, 'Towards a Nuclear Weapons Free World? New Zealand and the Quest for Global Nuclear Disarmament', *International Journal*, autumn 2000, pp. 531-544.
- Phil Goff, 'Disarmament: Stalled Processes and Missed Opportunities', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 5, September/October 2006, pp. 21-24.
- Peter Adams, 'NZAID: the First Year', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 1, January/February 2004, pp. 15-18.
- Roderic Alley, 'Indigenous Rights', chapter 6 in *The Domestic Politics of International Relations: Cases from Australia, New Zealand and Oceania* (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2000).
- chapters 5 ('Disarmament'), 6 ('Human Rights'), 7 ('Decolonisation'), 9 ('The Environment') in Malcolm Templeton, ed., *New Zealand as an International Citizen: Fifty Years of United Nations Membership* (Wellington: Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, 1995).

NEW ZEALAND - AUSTRALIA

- Chapters 11-14 ('Trans-Tasman Relations'), Ralph Pettman, ed., *New Zealand in a Globalising World* (Wellington: Victoria University Press, 2005).
- Denis McLean, *The Prickly Pair: Making Nationalism in Australia and New Zealand* (Dunedin: University of Otago Press, 2003), pp. 12-17, 283-307, 316.
- Stuart McMillan, 'ANZAC Defence: Finding a Way Ahead', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 30, No. 4, July/August 2005, pp. 2-6.
- Stuart McIntyre, 'The Nation-building Project in the Antipodes', chapter 1 in Arthur Grimes et al, *States of Mind: Australia and New Zealand 1901-2001* (Wellington: Institute of Policy Studies, 2002).
- Allan Hawke, 'New Zealand and Australia: three years later', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 2, March/April 2006, pp. 14-19.
- Robert Catley, ed., *Moving Together or Drifting Apart?* (Wellington: Dark Horse Publishing, 2002).
- Ashton Calvert, 'Australia's Foreign Policy Priorities', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 28, No. 5, September/October 2003, pp. 25-28.
- Allan Hawke, 'Representing Australia: Issues and Tasks', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 4, July/August 2004, pp. 16-18.
- Gerard Henderson, 'Australia's Security: a Consistent Approach', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 1, January/February 2004, pp. 11-14.

- Australia and New Zealand section (articles on strategic relations, environment, immigration), *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 28, No. 1, January/February 2003.

NEW ZEALAND - PACIFIC

- Fuimaono Les McCarthy, 'New Zealand's Pacific Advantage', chapter 6 in John Henderson and Greg Watson, eds., *Securing a Peaceful Pacific* (Christchurch: Canterbury University Press, 2005).
- John Henderson, 'New Zealand and Oceania', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- David MacDonald, 'Regionalism: New Zealand, Asia, the Pacific, and Australia', chapter 9 in Robert Patman and Chris Rudd, eds., *Sovereignty under Siege? Globalization and New Zealand* (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2005).
- Sabina Brendel Lautensach, 'A New Development Paradigm', chapter 45 in John Henderson and Greg Watson, eds., *Securing a Peaceful Pacific* (Christchurch: Canterbury University Press, 2005).
- Marian Hobbs, 'Securing Peace: New Zealand's Role', chapter 2 in John Henderson and Greg Watson, eds., *Securing a Peaceful Pacific* (Christchurch: Canterbury University Press, 2005).
- Winston Peters, 'Perspectives on the Pacific', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 4, July/August 2006, pp. 9-12.
- John Henderson, 'Security in Oceania in the Post-9/11 and Bali Era', chapter 6 in Ralph Pettman, ed., *New Zealand in a Globalising World* (Wellington: Victoria University Press, 2005).
- Keith Suter, 'New Zealand's Role in the Pacific: The New Warfare State', chapter 7 in Ralph Pettman, ed., *New Zealand in a Globalising World* (Wellington: Victoria University Press, 2005).
- Phil Goff, 'The Pacific: Where to Next?', chapter 2 in Gerald McGhie and Bruce Brown, eds., *New Zealand and the Pacific: Diplomacy, Defence, Development* (Wellington: NZIIA, 2002).
- Graham Fortune, 'New Zealand Defence Policy and the Pacific', chapter 3 in McGhie and Brown, *New Zealand and the Pacific*.
- David Shearer, 'Beyond Bikinis and Balaclavas', *The World Today*, Vol. 56, No. 11, November 2000, pp. 22-24.
- Peter Adams, 'New Zealand and the Pacific: New Emphasis on the Development Partnership', chapter 6 in McGhie and Brown, *New Zealand and the Pacific*.
- Greg Urwin, 'Australia, New Zealand, and the South Pacific', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 28, No. 1, January/February 2003, pp. 8-11.

NEW ZEALAND - ASIA

- Brian Lynch, 'Facing Asia in the New Millennium', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 31, No. 4, July/August 2006, pp. 13-17.
- Mark G. Rolls, 'New Zealand and East Asia: An Area of Priority', in Roderic Alley, ed., *New Zealand in World Affairs IV: 1990-2005* (Wellington: Victoria University Press/NZIIA, 2007).
- Brian Lynch, 'The Sino-New Zealand Link', *New Zealand International Review*, September/October 2007, Vol. 32, No. 5, pp. 25-26.

- Articles on New Zealand and India', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 32, No. 4, July/August 2007.
- Chen Mingming, 'China-New Zealand Trade: Seizing a Unique Opportunity', *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 29, No. 6, November/December 2004, pp. 11-14.
- Peter Cozens, ed., *Engaging Oceania With Pacific Asia* (Wellington: Centre for Strategic Studies, 2004).
- Articles on New Zealand-Korean relations, *New Zealand International Review*, Vol. 32, No. 1, January/February 2007.
- Robert Ayson, 'New Zealand and Asia-Pacific Security: New Rationales for Engagement?', *Contemporary Southeast Asia*, Vol. 22, No. 2, August 2000, pp. 389-406.
- Anthony L. Smith, ed., *Southeast Asia and New Zealand: A History of Regional and Bilateral Relations* (Wellington: ISEAS/Victoria University Press, 2005).
- Yongjin Zhang, ed., *New Zealand and Asia: Perceptions, Identity and Engagement* (Auckland: Asia 2000 Foundation of New Zealand and New Zealand Asia Institute, 1999).
- James Kember and Paul Clark, eds., *China and New Zealand: A Thriving Relationship Thirty Years On* (Auckland: New Zealand Asia Institute, 2003).
- *New Zealand and Japan: What Next?* (Palmerston North: New Zealand Japan Centre for Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Tokyo, 2000).
- Roger Peren, ed., *Japan and New Zealand: 150 Years* (Palmerston North: New Zealand Centre for Japanese Studies for Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Tokyo, 1999).
- Stephen Hoadley, *Negotiating Free Trade: The New Zealand-Singapore CEP Agreement* (Wellington: NZIIA, 2002).

© 2018